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A message from the Chairman
Dear Shareholders,
This has been a very significant and eventful year for Solagran, especially noteworthy because
we brought Ropren to the Russian Market – the first Russian natural origin pharmaceutical
hepatoprotector derived from conifer species.
It’s been six years since Solagran started its activity on the stock market and bringing in product to
the pharmaceutical marketplace. We already announced to our shareholders a great deal of detail
in relation to our trip to Russia in the Market Update of 6 July, 2010 which covered all events till the
end of June. Since then it’s only necessary to add that from 17-23 July, our material on Ropren trials
was presented at the World Pharma 2010 Congress in Copenhagen by Dr Yulia Fedotova and from
28-August till 1st September at the ECNP Congress in Amsterdam by Professor Piotr Shabanov.
Dr E.V. Golovanova’s recently published her article in the Experimental and Clinical Gastroenterology
Professional Magazine No. 7 2010. Prof. Shabanov’s article was published in the international
magazine Medical Academic Journal No. 2 Volume 10, under the umbrella of Fundamental
Medicine. He also gave a presentation at the 21st Congress of the Physiological Society I P Pavlov
19-25 September, 2010 Kaluga. The company’s activity has focused on spreading knowledge about
our substances and directing serious specialist attention towards the problem worldwide.
In relation to Ropren, the Russian Pharmacological market irrespective of which group of pharmaceuticals it deals with, is divided into two
sectors: retail (covering both pharmacies and direct purchase of medication by patients); and the hospital sector where pharmaceuticals are
usually bought by medical organisations (e.g. hospitals) depending on budget and on a basis of different types of government tender and auction
processes. According to Pharmexpert (www.pharmexpert.ru/) the volume of pharmaceuticals sold last year was 17.3 billion RU (Relative
Units in € or US $). However the hepatoprotector volume is 250 million RU. According to Russian law any organisation or company which
deals with pharmaceuticals requires to be licensed. On 27th January 2010, we were granted a 5 year license which grants us the right to have
a pharmaceutical operation. In the Russian jurisdiction, Ropren can be distributed either through pharmacy or directly through hospitals
because it’s a pharmaceutical product. However, direct advertising, mentioning its name on any advertising medium, direct communication
with patients or displaying the product on visible pharmacy shelves is strictly prohibited because it’s a pharmaceutical product. The real official
channel for promoting the product is the medical profession.
A Few Facts and Chronology:
8 February, 2010 – The 1st batch of Ropren bottles was produced by the St. Petersburg Pharmaceutical factory.
15 February, 2010 - Ropren from the pharmaceutical factory arrived to the Tomsk warehouse comprising of 7,904 bottles which constitute 1,317
courses.
Ropren was launched in the pharmaceutical market in 9 regions of Russia: Moscow, St Petersburg, Novosibirsk, Tomsk, Kemerovo, Barnaul and
so on. Thirty-one scientific events were conducted – Round tables, conferences, symposiums, seminars and exhibitions. Ropren was listed in the
Russian MIMS (called RLS – author is Vidal) under the umbrella of gastroenterology and hepatology 2010. Three thousand five hundred visits
were conducted by our medical team to visit general practitioners, specialists etc. Appointments were made, we came and explained – and also
we developed and are still developing a relationship with leading specialists in all the following areas: hepatology, hematology, gastroenterology,
narcology, endocrinology, cardiology, oncology and neurology.
From the end of February till September, 1,616 bottles of Ropren were sold comprising 269 courses. A further 1,528 bottles were delivered
on consignment. In addition 1,342 bottles were provided for approbation and clinical trials. From October till the end of the calendar year,
Solagran is planning to sell a further 1,000 courses of Ropren based on orders and approval from medical Committees of different associations
and hospitals. Though we are behind from our planned volume point of view, the sales of Ropren are promising and awareness about the product
is very high. There is a strong demand to position Ropren as a hepatoprotector for the treatment of cancerous patients and alcoholics, as it’s
accepted that the liver needs to be protected during radiotherapy and chemotherapy. We are therefore diligently working to meet this demand.
Recently Solagran registered Bioeffective A as a BANA (Biologically Active Nutritional Additive) in Russia. This process is the culmination of
a 1 ½ year effort to register Bioeffective A for use as a dietary supplement which gives us the opportunity to conduct multicentre randomized,
double blind, placebo/comparator controlled clinical trials on Helicobacter pylori. At the same time, Solagran has an opportunity to sell this
product in Russia.
Our application to have Bioeffective A accepted for use as a dietary supplement in the US continues. The period of review has been extended by
the FDA for their consideration of additional requested explanatory data and we believe this is the final hurdle before approval.
Solagran is finalising 1 ½ year animal trials on the application of use of Ropren and Bioeffective B for prostate cancer. It’s the continuation of
work done on the effects of these products on benign hyperplasia of the prostate gland. This work was done under the supervision of D.Sc V.G.
Bespalov in the St. Petersburg Institute of Oncology N. N. Petrov. The result will be available to our shareholders in due course and will also be
published in a prestigious scientific publication.
The conference commemorating the 140th anniversary of the Skvortsova-Stepanova Psychiatric Hospital was held on the 8th of October this year.
It was attended by notable neurologists and psychiatrists. Solagran gave three oral presentations including a unique case study and published
two papers – Topics covered were: Treatment with Ropren for Alzheimer’s, Depression, Cognitive disturbances and Alcohol dependence.
Launch of Siberian Red and Bioeffective A Gel in Australia
Siberian Red was released to the market in the 2nd quarter of 2010. It has initially been promoted to the sporting community and we continue
to seek avenues to expand its distribution.
Solagran’s Bioeffective A Gel has been available on the market since September 2010. It is our aim for it to make its way to every school and
household in the country.
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Sales information in Russia in relation to CO2 extracts
Sales of Bioeffective I water fraction and Bioeffective E (oil fraction) under the SiBEX trademark continue to increase in Russia.
Expected activities for CO2 range products on Russian territory till the end of 2010 are:
1. Marketing campaigns and trainings of pharmacies’ sales staff;
2. Launching the products in Moscow region through a distributor by the end of October 2010. Currently negotiations are at an advanced stage;
and
3. Launching a premium gift set containing CO2 products.
Corporate Changes Russia
We have announced the purchase of the remaining 15% of SiBEX and a corporate re-structure within Russia nominating Solagran Son as the
holding company within the country.
Tomsk Free Economic Zone Production Facility
We’ve progressed in leaps and bounds. This is a production facility for production of substances from green needles and on their basis,
pharmaceuticals at the production facility in the Free Economic Zone. We’re aiming to start with 250 kg of polyprenols monthly. Technical
documentation is ready following which the entire project documentation will be completed by the end of the year. From January till March of
2011, they will conduct attainment of expertise for this project. From June 2011, the building site will be developed and by December 2013, the
first batch of product will be available. Approximately 20 % of the overall project has been completed to date.
Purchase of controlling interest in manufacturing facility of CGNC
Solagran has reached agreement to purchase a controlling interest in the manufacturing facility of CGNC in Vishny Volochek, Russia.
Pine Pure Range
A range of products for the Salim Group was made besides which, all necessary approvals are done. We are waiting for approval for a biologically
active food additive on the basis of polyprenols. This is a new class of substance for consumption and medical treatment. This work needed the
right definition and calculation of daily consumption of polyprenols – something which has never been contemplated let alone done before. We
are hoping the final decision will come through before December 2010.
Legal Dispute with BioProspect Limited
Shareholders will no doubt be aware that Solagran is currently involved in a legal dispute with BioProspect Limited in relation to the Development
Agreement entered into between the two companies on 22 August 2007. Solagran was first notified of a dispute in relation to the intellectual
property on 29 July 2010 (some 3 years after the initial agreement was executed). Solagran denies all allegations concerning misrepresentations
surrounding the company’s intellectual property. Given the assertions made by BioProspect to the foundation of Solagran’s business, i.e. its
intellectual property, Solagran believes it is in the best interests of all shareholders to seek a speedy and public resolution of this matter. The
matter is scheduled for hearing in the Federal Court of Australia later this month and Solagran is confident it will be successfully dealt with.
Medical University – Tomsk
More positive news for the company! Solagran has acquired a new partner – The Siberian State Medical University at Tomsk. We signed a
strategic partnership for scientific cooperation which includes conducting trials with the university and many other medical centres with which
it has a long term relationship. Also they will organise their best post graduate medical specialists (for a modest honorarium) to cooperate
with top medical scientists to understand the full mechanism of action of polyprenols in the body and establish them as a new class of medical
substances.
Patents – PCT to national phases
We have 4 applications – three in relation to Ropren (PCT/RU2008/000297; PCT/RU2008/000298; and PCT/RU2008/000299) applied for in
Australia, US, European Union (27 countries); Malaysia; Indonesia; and one in relation to Bioeffective A (PCT/RU2008/000774) applied for in
Australia, US, European Union (27 countries); Malaysia; Indonesia; and India.
Before closing, I would like to take this opportunity to express my most earnest gratitude and that of our entire team to Dr Natalia Frolova who
was instrumental in assisting Solagran with all toxicity, pre-clinical and clinical studies. She was the author of more than 80 publications and
scientific editor of more than 40 medical books of both Russian and foreign authors. Sadly, she passed away on Monday 18 October, 2010. I wish
to convey our deepest sympathy to her family and loved ones as well as her family of friends of which I and the Solagran team count ourselves
amongst them.
In conclusion, I have to admit that Solagran has taken significant steps forward in the practical realisation of the company’s goals in creating
awareness about our products, not only Bioeffective A and Bioeffective I but also created great worldwide awareness about the production of
Ropren and its capacity to deal with many ailments. We have also created awareness in the medical community in Russia as well as outside.
One more time I’d like to make it clear that Solagran is the leader in this field. Of course more work is needed and greater sales results need to be
achieved. However, my personal belief regarding what’s already accomplished and the predisposition to greater sales and financial success, places
the company squarely in the shoes of a real and strong leader of which our shareholders will be very satisfied and proud.

Dr Vagif Soultanov
Executive Chairman
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The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Solagran Limited (“the Company”) and its controlled
entities (Solathera Limited, Solagran Netherlands BV, SibEX LLC,Solagran Son LLC and Solagift LLC) for the year ended 30 June
2010.
Directors
The names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of the directors in office during the financial year and as at the
date of this report are listed below. All directors, unless otherwise stated, were in office from the beginning of the financial period
until the date of this report. Directors have not held directorships in other listed public companies in the three years prior to 30 June
2010 unless stated otherwise.
Current Directors
Dr. Vagif Soultanov – Executive Chairman

Dr. Soultanov is the principal founder of Solagran and led the Bioeffectives® research team in St
Petersburg in the 1980s. He has doctoral qualifications in both organic chemistry and biochemistry,
and is a registered medical practitioner in Russia. He first came to Australia in 1990 to work with the
CSIRO Division of Forest Products as part of an inter-governmental scientific exchange program.
He has published over 60 scientific papers in Russia and internationally and holds a number of
patents.
Dr. Soultanov is Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and responsible for the Research
and Development activities of Solagran Limited.
Alexander Kurganov – Executive Director (appointed 6 February 2009)

Alexander Kurganov is General Director of SibEX LLC based in Tomsk Siberia, the 85% owned
subsidiary of Solagran, Australia. He has been a lecturer in science at the Tomsk Polytechnic
University and has 5 patents (Russian Federation) and 21 publications. He directed the construction
of the world’s first facility to produce polyprenols from conifer species.

David Croll – Executive Director (appointed 28 July 2010)

David Croll completed a Bachelor or Business (Double Major in Accounting and Business Law) at
Curtin University in 1989 and qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1993. Mr Croll then moved
to the United Kingdom where he spent two years working as a Finance Manager for a division of
Prudential Financial Services. Upon returning to Australia in 1996, he spent 12 years in Sydney
in a variety of financial and managerial roles with Salomon Smith Barney (now Citigroup), Hartley
Poynton and the Rivkin Group. In his last role he was employed as a portfolio manager of a
boutique investment manager trading Australian and international equities. Mr Croll has assumed
responsibility for all financial matters pertaining to the Solagran entities.
Andi Solaiman – Non-Executive Director (appointed 27 July 2009)

Andi Solaiman (B. Bus., MBA) holds a number of senior positions within the Salim Group. He is
a director of AsiaMedic Limited, Interflour Holdings Limited and Universal Integrated Corporation
Consumer Products Pte. Ltd. He is also the President Director and Chief Executive Officer of PT
Indokemika Jayatama.
Mr Solaiman completed the executive program at the University of Pennsylvania – Wharton Business
School in 2005. He currently resides in both Singapore and Jakarta where the Salim Group’s main
administrative offices are located.
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Previous Directors
Branko Jovanovic – Director (resigned 28 July 2010)

Mr. Jovanovic is a former diplomat and the Director in various European companies. Before joining Solagran, he was the Trade
Development Manager and Business Council Executive Director for Russia, Thailand and Malaysia with the Australian Chamber of
Commerce and Industry. He has extensive experience in international trade and speaks five languages including fluent Russian.
Mr. Jovanovic was the Company’s Chief Executive and was responsible for the management, strategic planning and commercial
objectives on Solagran Limited.
Robert Payne – Director (appointed 23 February 2009, resigned 1 July 2009) & Company Secretary (appointed 1 April 2009,
resigned 1 July 2009)

Company Secretary
Justyn Stedwell (appointed 9 July 2009)

Mr. Stedwell has completed a Bachelor of Business & Commerce at Monash University and a Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate
Governance with Chartered Secretaries Australia. He is also the Company Secretary of ASX listed companies Hostech Ltd and
Mercury Brands Ltd.
Directors’ Meetings
The company held 8 directors’ meetings during the 2009-2010 year. The attendance of the directors at meetings of the Board
were:
Current Directors
Dr Vagif Soultanov
Mr Alexander Kurganov
Mr Andi Solaiman
Mr David Croll

Directors meetings attended
8
8
2
-

Meetings held whilst in office
8
8
7
-

Former Directors
Mr Branko Jovanovic
Mr Robert Payne

8
-

8
-

Directors’ Interests in Shares.
The relevant interests of each Director in the share capital of the Company as the date of this report are as follows:
Director

Dr Vagif Soultanov
Mr Alexander Kurganov
Mr Andi Solaiman
Mr David Croll

Ordinary Shares
Directly Held

Ordinary Shares
Indirectly held

2,815,391
-

4,921,034
3,000,000
-

Directors’ Interest in Options
Director
Dr Vagif Soultanov

Number of Options

Exercise Price

Expiry

3,400,000

$0.50

30 November 2011
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Directors’ Interest in Contracts
The director’s of Solagran have no interest in contracts relating to shares in Solagran.
Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company are the continuing research and commercial development of Bioeffectives® along with the
extension of patent protection for the extraction and applications of Bioeffectives®.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s activities during the current year.
Dividends
The Directors recommend that no dividend be paid. No amounts have been paid as dividends during the financial year and up to
the date of this report.
Operating Results
The consolidated net loss of the Group for the financial year was $4,548,007 (2009 - loss $10,375,504).
Review of Operations
A review of operations is provided in the Chairman’s Report.
Commercialisation of Products
During the financial year the Company continued clinical studies, research and market development plans in accordance with its
stated objective of completing the commercialisation process of Bioeffectives® A, B, I and R.
Corporate Structure
Solagran is a company limited by shares that is incorporated in Australia. Solagran has prepared a consolidated financial report
incorporating the entities that it retained interests in during the financial year.
Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
Share issues during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:
Ordinary Shares
Date
24 July 2009
27 July 2009
10 August 2009
13 November 2009
1 December 2009
18 December 2009
28 April 2010

Number of Shares Issued
21,291,727
36,916,918
10,000
500
12,227,421
2,000,000
600,000

Event
Payment of final call on contributing shares.
Issue of Shares to a nominee of the Salim Group.
Payment of final call on contributing shares.
Issued upon exercise of options.
Payment of final call on contributing shares.
Issued upon exercise of options.
Issued upon exercise of options.

Contributing Shares paid to 10 cents with a further 10 cents payable on or before 30 November 2009
Date
24 July 2009

Number of Shares Issued
932,355

Event
Share Issue

Options
The following options are currently on issue as at the date of this report:
Number of Options
Exercise Price ($)
12,226,921
0.20
3,400,000
0.50
No options were issued during the year and up to the date of this report.
No options lapsed during the year and up to the date of this report.
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Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year
On 24 August 2010, Solagran was joined as a party to proceedings commenced by Gun Capital Management Pty Ltd alleging
misrepresentation under the Trade Practices Act. Solagran is currently seeking to have itself removed as a party to these
proceedings.
On 3 September 2010 BioProspect Limited commenced an action against Solagran Limited and others alleging misrepresentation
under the Trade Practices Act in relation to a Development Agreement entered into by the two companies in August 2007. Solagran
is defending this action and the matter is due to be heard in the Federal Court of Australia in November of this year. Solagran and
its appointed legal advisors remain confident that the matter will be successfully defended.
In July 2010, Solagran announced that it had acquired the remaining 15% of SibEX LLC thereby making it a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group.
Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations
The Directors believe that the further commercialisation of Bioeffectives® will provide strong sales revenue to the group in the
financial year 2010/2011.
Environmental Regulation
The Directors have considered compliance with the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 which requires entities to
report annual greenhouse gas emissions and energy use. For the measurement period 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010 the directors
have assessed that there are no current reporting requirements, but may be required to do so in the future. In Tomsk, SiBEX
complies with certain environmental regulations relating to the collection of raw materials under an agreement with local regulatory
authorities.
Directors and Officers Insurance
The Group holds a Directors and Officers liability policy with a limit of $5,000,000 for any individual claim.
Proceedings on Behalf of the Group
There are no proceedings on behalf of the Group pursuant to section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.
REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited as required by Section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act
2001.
a) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The Board reviews the remuneration packages and policies applicable to the Directors and other officers of the Group on an annual
basis. Where necessary the Board obtains independent advice on the appropriateness of remuneration packages.
Non-Executive Directors
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the directors.
Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Board has received advice of independent
remuneration consultants to ensure non-executive directors’ fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. The
Chairman’s fee is determined independently to the fees of non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external
market.
The Chairman is not present at any discussion relating to the determination of his own remuneration.
The maximum pool to be paid to Non-Executive Directors is agreed at the Annual General Meeting and is currently $180,000.
Executive Remuneration
Executive remuneration and other terms of reference are reviewed annually by the Board and are set at fair market value and not the
performance of the Group. Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay and rewards.
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Base pay for senior executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive’s pay is competitive with the market. An executive’s pay
is also reviewed upon promotion. There are no guaranteed base pay increases fixed in any senior executive’s contract.
b) Details of remuneration
Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each Director of Solagran Limited and the officers of the
Group for the years ended 30 June 2009 and 2010 are set out in the following pages:
2010
Name

Position Held

Salary

Consulting Share-Based
Fees

Total

Payments

Remuneration
Consisting of
Options %

Dr Vagif Soultanov
Executive Chairman
Mr Alexander Kurganov Executive Director
Mr Branko Jovanovic * CEO
Non Executive Directo
Mr Andi Solaiman **
Non Executive Directo
Dr Robert Payne ***
Total

*
**
***

55,741
81,000
-

-

-

55,741
81,000
-

136,741

-

-

136,741

-

Mr Branko Jovanovic resigned as a director on 28 July 2010
Mr Andi Solaiman was appointed a director on 27 July 2009
Dr Robert Payne resigned as a director on 1 July 2009

2009
Name

Position Held

Salary

Consulting Share-Based
Fees

Total

Payments

Remuneration
Consisting of
Options %

Dr Vagif Soultanov
Executive Chairman
Mr Branko Jovanovic * CEO
Mr Alexander Kurganov Executive Director
Mr Charles Pellegrino ** Executive Director
Mr Denis Kilroy****
CEO
Mr Peter Stedwell***** Executive Director
Dr Robert Payne ****** Non Executive Directo

29,570
25,000
-

157,566
33,000
137,516
143,503
22,000

158,683
-

316,249
29,570
25,000
33,000
137,516
143,503
22,000

50.2%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

Total

54,570

493,585

158,683

706,838

*
**
***
****
*****
******

Mr Branko Jovanovic was appointed a director on 6 February 2009 and resigned on 28 July 2010
Mr Alexander Kurganov was appointed a director on 6 February 2009
Mr Charles Pellegrino resigned as a director on 15 December 2008
Mr Denis Kilroy resigned as a director on 6 February 2009
Mr Peter Stedwell passed away on 30 March 2009
Dr Robert Payne was appointed a director on 23 February 2009 and resigned on 1 July 2009.

c) Key Management Personnel Remuneration
2010
Name

Position Held

Salary

Consulting Share-Based
Fees

Total

Payments

Remuneration
Consisting of
Options %

Mr David Croll *
Chief Financial Officer
Mr Justyn Stedwell ** Company Secretary

*
**

9

87,200
37,637

-

-

87,200
37,637

0.0%
0.0%

Mr David Croll was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 29 October 2009. He was appointed to the Board of Solagran on
28 July 2010 and assumed the title of Finance Director.
Mr Justyn Stedwell was appointed Company Secretary of Solagran on 9 July 2009.
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There were no Key Management Personnel of Solagran who were not directors of the Group in the 2009 financial year.
(d) Service agreements
Currently there are no service agreements in place between the Company and any of its Directors, however consulting fees and
salaries are approved at board level.
(e) Loans to directors and executives
There were no loans to directors or executives during the reporting period or at 30 June 2010.
(f) Shares issued on the exercise of options
During the year ended 30 June 2010, Dr Vagif Soultanov exercised 2,600,000 options with a strike price of $0.50. The options
converted to ordinary shares on a one for one basis. Dr Soultanov holds a further 3,400,000 options with a strike price of $0.50
expiring 30 November 2011.
(g) Additional Information
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration: relationship between remuneration and company
performance
In considering the company’s performance and its effect on shareholder wealth, the Board has regard to a broad range of factors
some of which are financial and others which relate to the progress on the Group’s developments.
The Board also gives consideration to the Group’s result and cash consumption for the year. It does not utilise earnings per share
as a performance measure or contemplate payment of any dividends in the short to medium term given that all efforts are currently
being expended to build the business and establish self-sustaining revenue streams.
The following is a summary of key shareholder wealth statistics for the Company over the past 5 years while it has been listed on
the ASX.
Financial Year

EBIT

Share Price

$

Cents

2005/06

(2,113,001)

17

2006/07

(3,649,964)

132

2007/08

(3,762,040)

32

2008/09

(11,024,294)

9

2009/10

(4,819,573)

12

(g) Insurance of officers
During the financial year, the Group has paid an insurance premium in respect of a Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
Contract. The insurance premium relates to liabilities that may arise from an officer’s position, with the exception of conduct involving
a wilful breach of duty or improper use of information or position to gain personal advantage.
The officers covered by the insurance policies are directors and officers of the Group.
The contract of insurance prohibits the disclosure of the nature of the liabilities and the amount of premium.
END OF AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT

10

Directors’ report
Auditor
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.
Non-audit services
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s
expertise and experience with the Company are important.
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd) or related parties for non-audit services provided
during the year are set out below.
The Board of Directors has considered the position and is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with
the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the
provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
-

all non-audit services have been reviewed by the board of directors to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and
objectivity of the auditor; and
none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants.

During the year the following fees for non-audit services were paid or payable for services provided by a related practice of the
external auditors:
2010
$
BDO Corporate Tax (NSW-VIC) Pty Ltd - Taxation and Accounting 55,143
Services

2009
$
174,706

Auditor’s independence declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out later in
this Report.
This Directors’ Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Vagif Soultanov
Executive Chairman

Dated at Melbourne the 30th day of September, 2010.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

STATEMENT OF COMPREHANSIVE
INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

Consolidated
2010
$

Note

2009
$

Revenue from continuing operations

2

1,270,255

656,055

Other income

2

785,799

23,376

1,457,093

527,407

740,413

1,078,705

853,424

917,554

164,106

495,399

493,553

484,727

890,729

781,805

Cost of goods sold
Research and Development

3

Clinical Trial Costs
Consultancy and Contract Expenses
Depreciation Expense

3

Employee Benefits Expense
Impairment of Intellectual Property

3

Inventory Writedown

-

2,000,000

-

386,475

Listing and Share Registry Fees

146,881

138,912

Marketing Expense

363,829

349,190

Manufacturing Expense
Operating Expenses Siberian Production Facility
Other Expenses

49,698

146,734

1,018,493

1,231,159

333,347

127,243

3

6,884

(21,974)

3

357,177

2,415,219
645,171

Loss before income tax

(4,819,573)

(11,024,294)

Income tax benefit
Loss for the year

271,566
(4,548,007)

648,789
(10,375,504)

Foreign Currency Translation Differences
Share based payments expense
Write-down of available-for-sale financial assets

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income continues on the next page and should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

Consolidated
2010
2009
$
$
Other comprehensive income
(Increase)/decrease in fair value of available-forsale financial assets
Income tax on other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation differences
Other comprehensive income for the year, net
of tax

64,679
(20,747)
(61,132)

352,821
119,235

(17,200)

472,056

Total comprehensive income for the year

(4,530,807)

(10,847,560)

Loss is attributable to:
Owners of Solagran Limited

(4,263,511)

(10,098,894)

(284,496)
(4,548,007)

(276,610)
(10,375,504)

(4,246,311)
(284,496)
(4,530,807)

(10,570,950)
(276,610)
(10,847,560)

Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year is
attributable to:
Owners of Solagran Limited
Non-controlling interests

Cents

Cents

Loss per share from loss from continuing
operations
Basic loss per share

5

(1.58)

(4.48)

Loss per share for profit for the year
Basic loss per share

5

(1.57)

(4.68)

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income continues on the next page and should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

AS AT 30 JUNE, 2010

Consolidated
Note

2010
$

2009
$

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

6

582,509

520,037

Trade and other receivables

7

2,070,517

1,481,003

Inventories

8

4,695,499

2,719,108

7,348,525

4,720,148

9

712,908

549,764

Property, plant and equipment

10

6,457,994

5,501,518

Intangible assets

11

8,818,224

8,639,824

Total non-current assets

15,989,127

14,691,107

Total assets

23,337,652

19,411,255

692,675

1,389,861

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Available-for-sale financial assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

Borrowings

13

Other liabilities

14

Total current liabilities

-

190,000

1,550,064

157,040

2,242,738

1,736,901

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

15

88,085

95,880

Provisions

16

145,763

-

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

233,849

95,880

2,476,587

1,832,781

20,861,065

17,578,474

EQUITY
Contributed equity

17

72,884,661

64,938,298

Other reserves

18

3,041,115

3,044,663

Retained earnings

19

(54,647,251)

(50,404,487)

21,278,525

17,578,474

Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
Solagran Limited
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

(417,460)
20,861,065

17,578,474

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2009

Consolidated
2010
2009
$
$
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Income taxes paid
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating
activities

1,456,283
(8,393,144)
49,152
-

1,120,733
(6,904,999)
102,351
23,376

(6,887,709)

(5,658,539)

(1,450,029)
(178,400)

(960,205)
(238,037)

(1,628,430)

(1,198,242)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Loans to other entities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings

7,914,919
(668,375)
1,550,064
(190,000)

3,552,079
(584,092)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing
activities

8,606,608

2,967,987

90,469
(27,998)
520,037
582,508

(3,888,794)
(251,237)
4,660,068
520,037

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing
activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Net foreign exchange differences
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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-

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

Foreign currency translation reserve differences

Total comprehensive income for the year

At 30 June 2010

Change in holding of non-controlling interests

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs

owners

Transactions with owners in their capacity as

-

58,103

54,647,251

-

-

(7,946,362)
(72,884,661)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(61,132)

(61,132)

-

-

(7,946,362)
-

64,679

64,679
-

-

119,235

-

-

-

-

119,235

119,235

-

-

-

(3,099,219)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(3,099,219)

(2,415,219)

-

(2,415,219)

-

-

-

-

-

(684,000)

reserve
$

(21,278,525)

(7,946,362)

(7,946,362)
-

4,246,311

(61,132)

64,679

(20,747)

4,263,511

(17,578,474)

(5,919,837)

-

(2,415,219)

(3,504,618)

10,847,560

119,235

352,821

10,375,504

(22,506,197)

Total
$

417,460

132,964

132,964

-

284,496

-

-

284,496

84,539
-

84,539

-

-

-

-

-

-

(84,539)

reserve
$

interests

payment

reserve
$

translation

(20,861,065)

(7,813,398)

132,964

(7,946,362)

4,530,807

(61,132)

64,679

(20,747)

4,548,007

(17,578,474)

(5,835,298)

84,539

(2,415,219)

(3,504,618)

10,847,560

119,235

352,821

10,375,504

(22,590,736)

Total equity
$

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

4,242,764

-

-

(20,747)

4,263,511

(64,679)

-

50,404,487

-

-

-

-

-

(64,938,298)

(3,504,618)

-

-

-

352,821

-

352,821

-

(417,500)

AFS reserve
$

-

10,375,504

-

10,375,504

40,028,983

$

Retained earnings

financial assets

Movement in fair value of available-for-sale

Income tax paid

Other comprehensive income

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

At 30 June 2009

Change in holding of non-controlling interests

Share-based payments expense

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs

owners
(3,504,618)
-

-

Foreign currency translation reserve differences

Transactions with owners in their capacity as

-

-

(61,433,680)

financial assets

Movement in fair value of available-for-sale

Other comprehensive income

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

At 1 July 2008

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY

equity
$

Contributed

Noncontrolling

Share-based

Foreign
currency

Financial statements
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTE 1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Solagran Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia, whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian
Securities Exchange.
The financial report was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 30 September 2010.
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements includes separate
financial statements for Solagran Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of Solagran Limited and its
subsidiaries.
a) Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.
Compliance with IFRS
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Compliance
with AIFRS ensures that the financial report of Solagran Limited comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of available for
sale financial assets.
Financial statement presentation
The Group has applied the revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, which became effective as of 1 January 2009.
The revised standard requires the separate presentation of the statement of comprehensive income and a statement of changes in
equity. All non-owner changes in equity must now be presented in the statement of comprehensive income. As a consequence, the
group had to change the presentation of its financial statements. Comparative information has been re-presented so that it is also
in conformity with the revised standard. Since the change in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects, there is no impact
on earnings per share.
Critical accounting estimates and significant judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities if they were to significantly change within the next financial year are discussed below.
(i) Impairment testing of indefinite life intangible assets and goodwill
The Group tests annually whether intangible assets with an indefinite useful life have suffered any impairment, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in note 1(e). The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on value
in use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions. Details of the assumptions used can be found in Note 11.
The recoverability of the amount of goodwill and indefinite life of intangible assets is based upon Solagran Limited and controlled
entities being able to continue as a going concern, by the way of raising further capital in order to meet expenditure commitments
to be able to successfully exploit the company’s product and technologies in excess of the carrying value of goodwill and other
intangibles.
The recoverable amount of investments held by the parent entities is based on the net asset value in conjunction with terminal value
calculations as set out in Note 11.
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(ii) Shared-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity settled share based payments at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes model
taking into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date, the expected
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and risk free interest rate for the term of the option.
(iii) Significant Judgement - Non capitalisation of clinical trial research and development costs
Due to the high element of risk and uncertainty associated with the development of pharmaceutical products the Group elects to
expense all ongoing patent costs and all research and developments costs. This is consistent with other companies in the Biotech
sector in the same stage of development as Solagran Limited.
b) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Solagran Limited (“company” or
“parent entity”) as at 30 June 2010 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Solagran Limited and its subsidiaries
together are referred to in this financial statements as the Group or consolidated entity.
Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls
another entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date that control ceases.
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of comprehensive income
and statement of financial position respectively.
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of Solagran Limited.
ii) Changes in ownership interests
The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners
of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and noncontrolling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to noncontrolling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners
of Solagran Limited.
When the group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
If the ownership interest in a jointly-controlled entity or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.
c) Income tax
The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the national income
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.
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Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and
when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right of offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability
simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.
Tax consolidation legislation
Solagran Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. The head
entity, Solagran Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own current and deferred tax
amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer
in its own right.
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Solagran Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets)
and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax
consolidation group.
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable
from or payable to other entities in the Group.
Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised
as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.
d) Business Combination
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business combinations involving
entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement
and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable
assets.
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquire and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the
measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present
value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar
borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.
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e) Impairment of assets
At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is any indication that individual assets are impaired. Where impairment
indicators exist, recoverable amount determined an impairment loss recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
f) Property, Plant & equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement
of comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of
their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Furniture, fittings and equipment:
Motor Vehicles
Land and Buildings

5 years
5 years
Not depreciated

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the statement
of comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, it is Group policy to transfer the amounts included in other reserves in
respect of those assets to retained earnings.
g) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of
the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is
not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of those cash-generating units represents
the Group’s investment in each country of operation by each primary reporting segment. Impairment losses on goodwill are not
reversed.
(ii) Patents and trademarks
Patents and trademarks have an indefinite useful life and are carried at cost less any impairment losses. The carrying value of
patents and trademarks is assessed using methods such as discounted future cashflow of the estimated revenue expected to be
generated from the assets. Patents and trademarks are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired.
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h) Cash and cash equivalents
For statement of cash flow presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.
i) Employee benefits
(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit
credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods
of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with
terms to maturity and currency that match, and closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
(iii) Share-based payments
Under AASB 2 Share Based Payments, the Group must recognise the fair value of options granted to directors, employees and
consultants as remuneration as an expense on a pro-rata basis over the vesting period in the statement of comprehensive income
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
The Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) of the group in the form of share based payment transactions,
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of these
equity-settled transactions with employees (including directors) is measured by reference to fair value at the date they are granted.
The fair value is determined using the Black Scholes model.
j) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and which are
unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
k) Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.
Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A
provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to
short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. The amount of the provision is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income in other expenses.
l) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns,
trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
(i) Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sales is recognised when significant risk and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer and can be reliably
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measured. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer when goods have been delivered to the customer.
(ii) Interest Income
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. The effective interest method uses the effective
interest rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial asset.
(ii) Government Grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the group will comply with all the attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.
Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are include in the non-current liabilities as deferred
income and credited to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the expected lives of the related
assets.
m) Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company, excluding any costs of
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.
(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average
number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.
n) Inventories
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being
allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on basis of weighted average
costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
o) Segment Reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.
The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Board or Directors.
Change in accounting policy
The Group has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009. AASB 8 replaces AASB 114 Segment Reporting. AASB
8 requires a ‘management approach’ under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal
reporting purposes. In addition, the segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision makers.
The Board of Directors review internal management reports on a monthly basis that is consistent with the information provided in
the statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of cash flows. As a result no reconciliation is
required, because the information as presented is used by the Board to make strategic decisions.
p) Contributed Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
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Contributing shares are partly paid with calls of capital being made at the discretion of the company. Where calls are not paid these
shares will be forfeited by the holder.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the acquisition of a business are included
as part of the purchase consideration.
(q) Dividends
A provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the
entity, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at reporting date.
(r) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable
from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities, which
are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow.
(s) Investments and other financial assets
The group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the
case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting period.
All investments and other financial assets are initially stated at cost, being the fair value of consideration given plus acquisition
costs.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date, which
are classified as non current assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the statement of financial position.
Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated
in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment
matures or management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the end of the reporting period. Investments are
designated as available-for-sale if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments and management intends
to hold them for the medium to long term.
Impairment
The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of a security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for
available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss - is reclassified from equity and
recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on equity instruments
classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss.
If there is evidence of impairment for any of the group’s financial assets carried at amortised cost, the loss is measured as the
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difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred. The cash flows are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
(t) Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure
purposes.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available for
sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. The Group
uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. Quoted
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as
estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to
their short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.
(u) Borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transactions costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive incomes over the period of the loans and borrowings using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting date.
(v) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed.
(w) Foreign currency
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in AUD,
which is Solagran Limited’s functional and presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at reporting date are translated to Australian dollars at the foreign exchange rate
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Financial statements of foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting
date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at rates approximating to the foreign
rates of exchange ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslation are recognised
directly in a separate component of equity.
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(x) Going Concern
The Group incurred a loss for the year of $4,548,007 (2009: $10,375,504) and a net cash outflow from operating activities of
$6,887,709 (2009: $5,658,539 cash outflow)
As at 30 June 2010 the company had cash assets of $582,509 (30 June 2009: $520,037) and working capital of $5,105,787 (30
June 2009: $2,983,247)
Whilst the Group has sufficient cash and assets to meet its ongoing development and administration expenditure through to the
end of the current financial year, the Directors recognise they may need to raise additional funds to meet the working capital
requirements in the future. Based on the ability to raise the additional working capital as can be evidenced in the past, the Directors
consider it appropriate that the financial statements be prepared on a going concern basis. The financial statements have been
prepared on the basis that the entity can meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due and can therefore continue normal
business activities, and the realisation of assets and liabilities as shown in the statement of financial position.
(y) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
The Group has chosen not to early-adopt any accounting standards that have been issued, but are not yet effective.
Set out below is a summary of issued accounting standards, relevant to the Consolidated Entity, which are not yet effective as at 30
June 2010 and a description of their expected effect on the Group’s financial statements (if any).
AASB 2009-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Financial Statements [AASB 101]
(effective 1 January 2010)
In May 2009 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, which clarifies that terms of a
liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in the liability being settled by the issue of equity instruments, do not affect
its classification. This means that unless the terms of such liabilities require a transfer of cash or other assets within 12 months,
they do not necessarily have to be classified as current liabilities. Initial adoption of this amendment will have no impact as the
consolidated entity does not have any current liabilities where the counterparty has the option to have the liabilities settled by the
issue of equity instruments.
AASB 2009-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Statement of Cash Flows [AASB 107]
(effective 1 January 2010)
In May 2009 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows, which clarifies that only expenditures that result
in a recognised asset in the statement of financial position are eligible for classification as cash flows from investing activities. Initial
adoption of this amendment will have no impact as the entity only recognises cash flows from investing activities for expenditures
that result in a recognised asset in the statement of financial position.
AASB 2009-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Impairment of Assets [AASB 136]
(effective 1 January 2010)
In May 2009 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, which clarifies that CGUs to which goodwill is
allocated cannot be larger than an operating segment as defined in AASB 8 Operating Segments before aggregation. There will
be no impact as these requirements are only required to be applied prospectively to goodwill impairment calculations for periods
commencing on or after 1 July 2010.
AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Business Combinations [AASB 3] (effective 1 July 2010)
In June 2010 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 3 Business Combinations, which Confirms that any balances of contingent
consideration that relate to acquisitions under the superseded AASB 3 must be accounted for under the superseded standard, i.e.
not via profit or loss. There will be no impact on initial adoption as adjustments to contingent consideration on acquisitions prior to 1
July 2009 have been accounted for in accordance with the superseded AASB 3.
AASB 2010-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Financial Instruments: Disclosures [AASB 7]
(effective 1 January 2011)
In June 2010 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, which deletes various disclosures
relating to credit risk, renegotiated loans and receivables and the fair value of collateral held. There will be no impact on initial
adoption to amounts recognised in the financial statement as the amendments result in fewer disclosures only.
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AASB 2010-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Financial Statements [AASB 101]
(effective 1 January 2011)
In June 2010 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, which allows that a detailed
reconciliation of each item of other comprehensive income may be included in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to
the financial statements. There will be no impact on initial adoption of this amendment as a detailed reconciliation of each item of
other comprehensive income has always been included in the statement of changes in equity.
AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash-Settled Share-based Payment Transactions
[AASB 2] (effective from 1 January 2010)
The amendments made by the AASB to AASB 2 confirm that an entity receiving goods or services in a group sharebased payment
arrangement must recognise an expense for those goods or services regardless if which entity in the group settles the transaction
or whether the transaction is settled in shares or cash. They also clarify how the group share-based payment arrangement should
be measured, that is, whether it is measured as an equity- or cash-settled transaction. The group will apply these amendments
retrospectively for the financial reporting period commencing on 1 July 2010. There will be no impact on the group’s financial
statements.
AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights Issues [AASB 132]
(effective from 1 February 2010)
In October 2009 the AASB issued an amendment to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation, which addresses the accounting
for rights issues that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the issuer. Provided certain conditions are
met, such rights issues are now classified as equity regardless of the currency in which the exercise price is denominated. Previously,
these issues had to be accounted for as derivative liabilities. The amendment must be applied retrospectively in accordance with
AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The group will apply the amended standard from
1 July 2010. As the performance rights issue made by the group is denominated in the groups functional currency (AUD), the
amendment will not have any effect on the group’s financial statements.
Revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
(effective from 1 January 2011)
In December 2009 the AASB issued a revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. It is effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2011 and must be applied retrospectively. The amendment removes the requirement for government-related
entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other government-related entities and clarifies and simplifies
the definition of a related party. The group will apply the amended standards from 1 July 2011. When the amendments are applied,
the group and the parent will need to disclose any transaction between its subsidiaries. However, it has yet to put systems in place
to capture the necessary information. It is therefore not possible to disclose the financial impact, if any, of the amendment on the
related party disclosures.
AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments and AASB 2009-13 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 19 (effective from 1 July 2010)
AASB Interpretation 19 clarifies the accounting when an entity renegotiates the terms of its debt with the results that the liability is
extinguished by the debtor issuing its own equity instrument to the creditor (debt for equity swap). It requires a gain or loss to be
recognised in profit or loss which measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value
of the equity instruments issued. The group will apply the interpretation from 1 July 2010. It is not expected to have any impact on
the group’s financial statements since it is only retrospectively applied from the beginning of the earliest period presented (1 July
2009) and the group has not entered into any debt for equity swaps since that date.
AASB 9 (issued December 2009) - Financial Instruments (Effective from 1 January 2013)
This amends the requirements for classification and measurement of financial asset. Due to the recent release of these amendments
and that adoption is only mandatory for the 30 June 2014 year end, the entity has not yet made an assessment of the impact of
these amendments.
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Note 2.

Revenue & other income
Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

Revenue
Sale of goods
Interest

1,221,103
49,152

656,055
-

1,270,255

656,055

Other Income

200,799

23,376

Licence Fees

585,000

-

785,799

23,376

2,056,053

679,431

Other Income

Total Revenue

Other incomes consist of the recovery of legal fees during the year.
Licencing fees represent the further allotment of 22,500,000 of shares to Solagran upon BioProspect Limited issuing a notice to
commercialise under the Development Agreement entered into between the two companies in August 2007. This shareholding,
coupled with the initial allotment of 22,500,000 shares is currently subject to an injunction preventing their sale or transfer. This
matter is discussed in the Directors Report and the Subsequent Events note.
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Note 3.

Expenses
Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
Depreciation expense

493,553

484,727

493,553

484,727

Impairment
Intellectual Property
Available for Sale - Financial assets

-

2,000,000

357,177

645,171

357,177

2,645,171

Employee benefits

890,729

781,805

Research and development

740,413

1,078,705

252,932

239,637

252,932

239,637

Rental expenses relating to operating leases
Minimum lease payments

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss

-

386,475

6,884

(21,974)

6,884

364,501

28

Notes to financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

Note 4.

Income tax
Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

(a) Income tax expense/(benefit)
Current tax

(271,566)

Deferred tax

(648,789)

0
(271,566)

0
(648,789)

(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima
facie tax payable:

Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

Profit/(Loss) before income tax

(4,548,007) (10,352,653)

Prima facie income tax at 30%

(1,364,402)

(3,105,796)

Tax effect of amounts not deductible in calculating
taxable income:
Entertainment

516

2,094

Share-based payments

0

724,566

Impairment of inter-company loans

0

0

Impairment of goodwill

0

600,000

107,153

193,552

Impairment of available for sale financial assets
Other timing differences
Other permanent differences

(6,374)

0

(121,105)

(850,439)

(1,384,212)

(2,436,023)

0

0

1,112,935

1,787,234

Adjustment for subsidiary companies within
consolidated tax group.
Benefit of deferred tax assets not brought to
account
Income tax expense/(benefit)
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(c) Deferred Tax Liabilities

Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

Timing differences

0

0

0

0

Off-set of deferred tax assets

0

0

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised

0

0

(d) Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising on
timing

Consolidated

Tax losses - Australia

2010

2009

$

$

4,231,457

4,162,872

0

641,337

Tax losses - Other
Other temporary differences

33,551

8,085

4,265,008

4,812,294

0

0

4,265,008

4,812,294

Off-set of deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets not brought to account

Note 5.

Loss per share
Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating loss per share
Consolidated
Basic losss per share

2010

2009

Cents

Cents

Loss attributable to owners of Solagran Limited used to
calculate basic loss per share:
Loss from continuing operations

(1.58)

(4.48)

(1.58)

(4.48)

Consolidated

Loss used to calculate basic loss per share

2010

2009

$

$

(4,548,007)

(10,375,504)

Consolidated
2010

2009

Number

Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the
denominator in calculating basic loss per share

288,056,425

231,606,573

As the Group is in a loss-making situation, no dilutive loss per share has been shown as it would only decrease the loss per share.
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Note 6.

Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated
2010
2009
$

$

Cash at bank and in hand

557,438

496,749

Deposits at call

25,071
582,509

23,288
520,037

Cash at bank and in hand is non-interest bearing. Deposits at call bear floating
interest rates between 5 and 6% (2009: 2.5 and 4.5%). These deposits have an
average maturity of 60 days.

Reconciliation of Cash
The above figures are reconciled to the cash at the end of the financial year as
shown in the statement of cash flows as follows:
Consolidated
2010
2009
$
Balances as above
Balances per statement of cash flows
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Note 7.

Trade and other receivables (current)
Consolidated
2010

2009

$
Trade receivables

$

534,227

553,980

-

Allowance for doubtful debts

-

534,227
Other receivables

553,980

1,536,290

927,024

2,070,517

1,481,003

Age analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired at the end of the reporting period
Consolidated
2010

2009
Amount

Amount
Total
$
Not past due
Past due [30] days

-

Amount

not

Total

Impaired

impaired

$

$

$

309,227

553,980

Impaired impaired
$

309,227

Amount

not

-

-

Past due [30-45] days

225,000

-

225,000

Total

534,227

-

534,227

$
-

-

-

-

-

553,980

-

553,980
553,980

Payment terms on receivables past due but not considered impaired have not been re-negotiated. The Group
has been in direct contact with the relevant customers and are reasonably satisfied that payment will be
received in full.

Current net trade receivables that are neither past due or impaired
Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

Rating
A

534,227

553,980

Total

534,227

553,980

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relates to long standing customers with good track
record.
For risk analysis of these receivables, refer to Note 22.
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Note 8.

Inventories
Consolidated

Raw Materials

2010

2009

$

$

1,135,835

1,259,617

904

4,290

3,558,760

1,455,201

4,695,499

2,719,108

Work in progress
Finished goods - at cost

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense amounted to $1,457,903
Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value during the current financial
year amounted to $0 (2009: $386,475).

Note 9.

Available-for-sale financial assets (non-current)
Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

Listed securities
Equity securities

712,908

549,764

712,908

549,764

Consolidated

R e concilia tion of B ioP rospe ct Holding

Opening balance
P urchas e on market additional 9, 839, 041
Taken to As s et R evaluation R es erve at Dec 2008
W rite down to fair value through profit and los s
Adjus t fair value to As s et R evaluation R es erve
Allotment of 22, 500, 000 s hares in F eb 2010
C lear as s et revaluation res erve
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2010

2009

$

$

549, 764
(357, 176)
585, 000
(64, 679)

505, 000
207, 756
417, 500
(645, 171)
64, 679
-

712, 909

549, 764
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Note 10.

Property, plant and equipment
Consolidated

Land and Buildings at cost

2010

2009

$

$

147,500

Leasehold Improvements at cost
Motor Vehicles at cost
Plant and Equipment at cost

Reconciliations

-

17,700
213,637

61,000

7,481,760

6,212,365

3,062

3,062

R&D Equipment at cost
Less Accumulated Depreciation

147,500

(1,405,665)

(922,409)

6,457,994

5,501,518

Land and Buildings & Leashold
Improvements

Land and Buildings at cost

2010

2009

$

$

147,500

Leasehold Improvements at cost

147,500
-

17,700
165,200

147,500

Motor Vehicles
2010

2009

$

$

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year

51,000

61,000
-

Additions

152,637

Depreciation Expense

(43,045)

(10,000)

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year

160,592

51,000

Property, Plant and Equipment
2010

2009

$

$

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year

5,152,456

4,875,478

Additions

1,416,895

751,705

Depreciation Expense

(440,211)

(474,727)

6,129,140

5,152,456

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year

R&D Equipment

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year
Additions
Carrying amount at the end of the financial year

2010

2009

$

$
3,062

3,062

-

-

3,062

3,062
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Note 11.

Intangible assets
Consolidated
2010
2009
$

$

Goodwill
At cost

3,062,694

3,062,694

Accumulated impairment

3,062,694

3,062,694

7,755,530

7,577,130

(2,000,000)
5,755,530

(2,000,000)
5,577,130

8,818,224

8,639,824

Patents and trademarks
At cost
Accumulated amortisation (and
impairment)

Total intangible assets

Reconciliations
2010

Consolidated
2009

$'000

$'000

Goodwill
Balance at beginning of period
Acquisitions through business
combinations
Balance at end of period

3,062,694

-

3,032,828

29,866

3,062,694

3,062,694

5,577,130

7,576,714

178,400

416

Patents and Trademarks

Carrying amount at beginning of
year
Acquisitions
Impairment losses recognised
Carrying amount at end of year
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Note 1i.

Intangible assets (conitnued)
Impairment Charge
The impairment charge is recognised in the following line items in the statement of
comprehensive income:
Consolidated

Impairment of intellectual property

2010

2009

$'000

$'000
-

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

Patents and trademarkes have an indefinite useful life and are carried at cost less
any impaired losses. Patents and trademarks are tested for impairment annually,
the Cash Generating Unit (CGU) has been determined to include all non-current
assets of the Group.

(a) Key assumptions for value-in-use calculations
The recoverable amount of Patents and Trademarks has been assessed for
impairment during the period based on the following terminal value calculations.
Growth Rate %

Gross Margin %

Discount Rate

2-5 %

47%

12.5%

Gross margin is based on past experience and represents the lower end of gross
margins achieved to date. For the purposes of calculation a growth rate of 5% has
been used in the first two years, followed by a 5-year terminal value calculation
using 2% growth.

Note 12.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Other payables

Note 14.

Consolidated
2010
2009
$
$
422,246
1,022,033
270,429
692,675

367,827
1,389,861

Non Current Liabilities
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Note 13.

Borrowings

Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

CURRENT
Unsecured
Bank Loan Facility - Russia

-

190,000

-

190,000

Total current interest-bearing
liabilities

Bank overdraft facility
The bank loan facility was repaid in the 2009/10 financial year.

Note 14.

Other current liabilities
Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

CURRENT
Unsecured Loan - Solamind Pty Ltd
Deferred revenue

1,550,064
-

157,040

1,550,064

157,040

During the year Solagran obtained a loan for working capital purposes from Solamind Pty Ltd, an entity associated with the Executive
Chairman Dr Vagif Soultanov. The loan is interest free and repayable upon demand.
As at 30 June 2010, the unused balance of the loan facility not drawn at reporting date was $1,949,937
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Note 15.

Deferred tax liabilities - non current

Consolidated
2010
2009
$
Provision for Deferred Taxation

Note 16.

$

88,085

95,880

88,085

95,880

Other non-current liabilities
Consolidated
2010
2009
Deferred revenue

145,763
145,763

-

38

Notes to financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

Note 17.

Contributed equity
Parent

Parent

2010

2010

2009

2009

Shares

$

Shares

$

Share capital
Ordinary shares - no par value
Fully paid

297,780,927

72,722,149

Called to 10 cents
297,780,927

72,722,149

246,026,588

63,715,556

12,227,421

1,222,742

258,254,009

64,938,298

Movements in ordinary share capital
Number of
Date

Details

1 July 2008

Opening balance

1/07/2008

Adjustment carry forward balance

30/11/2008

Conversion of contributing Shares SLACF

26/02/2009

Issued to Solalife

30 June 2009 Closing Balance
29/07/2009

Issued to Salim Group Nominee

17/08/2009

Options Exercise

30/11/2009

Conversion of contributing shares SLACA

21/12/2009
3/05/2010
30/06/2010

Calls in Arrears

shares

$

Issue price

171,198,086

59,131,157

(9,000)

-

46,837,502

0.10

28,000,000

-

246,026,588

4,584,399
63,715,556

36,916,918

0.15

10,000

0.05

5,537,538
500

12,227,421

0.20

2,445,484

Directors Options exercised

2,000,000

0.50

1,000,000

Directors Options exercised

600,000

0.50

300,000

Less: transaction costs arising on shares
issued
30 June 2010 Closing balance

276,929
297,780,927

72,722,149

Ordinary shares
At 30 June 2010 there were 1,308,410 partly paid shares to 10 cents on which a further 10 cents is still outstanding. The
outstanding amounts are past due.
Ordinary shareholders are entitled to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to
the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. This is subject to the prior entitlements of the cumulative redeemable
preference shares which are classified as liabilities. Every ordinary shareholder present at a meeting in person or by proxy is
entitled to one vote on a show of hands or by poll.
Capital Risk Management
In managing its capital, the Group’s primary objective is to ensure its continued ability to provide a consistent return for its
owners through a combination of capital growth and distributions and through the payment of annual preference dividends to
its preference shareholders. In order to achieve this objective, the Group seeks to maintain a gearing ratio that balances risks
and returns at an acceptable level and also to maintain a sufficient funding base to enable the Group to meet its working
capital and strategic investment needs. In making decisions to adjust its capital structure to achieve these aims, either
through altering its dividend policy, new share issues, or the reduction of debt, the Group considers not only its short-term
position but also its long-term operational and strategic objectives .
It is the Group’s policy to maintain its gearing ratio within the range of 5-20%

(2009:5-20%). The Group’s gearing ratio at the

end of the reporting period is shown below :
Gearing ratios

Comsolidated
2010
$

Net debt

$

2,476,587

1,832,781

Total equity

20,861,093

17,578,474

Total capital

23,337,680

19,411,255

Gearing Ratio
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2009

11.9%

10.4%
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Note 18.

Reserves
Asset Revaluation Reserve

Consolidated
2010

2009

$
Opening Balance
Reserve taken to Profit and Loss
Revluation of investments

$

64,679

417,500

(357,179)

(417,500)

292,500

Closing Balance

64,679

-

64,679

Asset Revaluation Reserve
The asset revaluation reserve comprises changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investments which are
recognised in other comprehensive income and are recognised in profit or loss when the investments are sold
or impaired.
Share Based Payment Reserve

Consolidated
2010

2009

$
Opening balance

$

3,099,219

684,000

Options Issue

-

264,488

Issue of 28,000,000 Shares to Solalife

-

2,256,526

Cancelllation of 4,000,000 options to D Kilroy
Closing Balance

-

(105,795)

3,099,219

3,099,219

Share-based payments reserve
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of shares issued to Solalife and options
issued to the Executive Chairman Dr Vagif Soultanov approved by shareholders at the 2008 Annual General
Meeting. This reserve can be reclassified as retained earnings if options lapse and subsequently be declared
as a dividend.
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Opening Balance
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve arising during year
Closing Balance

Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

(119,235)

-

61,132

(119,235)

(58,103)

(119,235)

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences on translation of foreign
controlled subsidiaries. Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss when the investment is disposed of.

Note 19.

Accumulated losses
Consolidated
2010
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year
Net loss attributable to members
Income tax Paid - Russia
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest holders
Closing Balance

2009

$

$

(50,404,488)

(40,052,359)

(4,263,511)

(10,098,895)

20,747
(54,647,252)

23,376
(276,610)
(50,404,488)
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Note 20.

Cash flow information

Consolidated
2010
2009
$
$
Reconciliation of profit after
income tax to net cash flow from
operating activities
Loss for the year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of Intellectual Property
Non-cash share-based payments
expense
Reclassify prior year interest from
financing to operating revenue
Income Tax Paid

(4,548,007)(10,375,504)
493,553
484,727
2,000,000
-

2,415,219

-

80,377

-

23,376

Change in assets and liabilities
- increase in receivables
- increase in inventories
- decrease in financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
- increase / (decrease) in trade
creditors
- impact of foreign exchange
differences upon payment of
operating expenses
Net cash flow from operating
activities

41

(589,514)
(1,976,391)

(89,631)
(594,884)

357,177

645,171

(697,186)

(247,390)

72,659

(80,377)

(6,887,709) (5,738,916)
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Note 21.

Segment information
Description of segments
The group has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009 whereby segment information is
presented using a 'management approach', i.e. segment information is provided on the same basis as
information used for internal reporting purposes by the chief operating decision maker (executive
management committee that makes strategic decisions). This has resulted in an increase in the number of
reportable segments but has had no impact on the allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units and no
additional goodwill impairment has resulted from the application of the new standard. Comparatives for 2009
have been restated on this basis.

Operating segments have been determined on the basis of reports reviewed by the executive management
committee. The executive management committee ("committee") is considered to be the chief operating
decision maker of the group. The committee considers the business from both a product and geographic
perspective and assesses performance and allocates resources on this basis. The reportable segments are as
follows:
Bioeffective Production and Sales Australia
Bioeffective Production and Sales in Australia represents the sale of all finished goods produced by our
contract manufacturers using bioeffective materials derived from Russia. Currently Bioeffective A is sold in
encapsulated form and Bioeffective I is sold in drink concentrate form under the trade name of Siberian Red.
Bioeffective Production and Sales Russia
finished product in Russia. The Russian division produces Bioffective R forming the basis of the
pharmaceutical product available for sale in Russia, Ropren. The Russian Division also sells a variety of water
and oil based fractions under the SibEX trademark.
Information provided to the executive management committee
Segment information provided to the executive management committee for the year ended 30 June 2010 is as
follows:

2010

Australia

Russia

Unallocated

Total

$

$

$

$

Segment Revenue
Total segment revenue

393,815

1,057,425

-

1,451,240

313,837

241,824

555,661

393,815

1,371,262

241,824

2,006,901

(1,840,140)

(881,085)

(1,383,344)

(4,104,569)

Other Income
Segment revenue from external
customers
EBITDA
Interest revenue
Depreciation and amortisation
Inventory Writedown

894
(22,933)

(470,620)

48,258
(357,177)

49,152
(493,553)
(357,177)
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Note 21.

Segment information (continued)

Segment Assets and Liabilities
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

7,398,097

13,791,391

2,148,164

23,337,652

134,659

620,447

1,721,481

2,476,587

141,448

988,835

Acquisitions of property, plant and
equipment, intangibles and other
non-current segment assets

Segment information provided to the executive management committee for the year ended 30 June 2009 is as
follows:

2009

Australia

Russia

Unallocated

Total

$

$

$

$

Segment Revenue
Total segment revenue

315,033

261,429

Other Income

79,593

656,055

23,376

23,376

Segment revenue from external
customers
EBITDA
Interest revenue

315,033

261,429

79,593

656,055

(2,838,233)

(1,359,337)

(5,773,585)

(9,971,155)

(784)

(79,593)

(80,377)

-

484,727
2,000,000

Interest expense
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of Intangibles
Inventory Writedown
Share based payments expense

-

484,727

2,000,000

-

-

386,475

-

-

386,475

2,415,219

-

-

2,415,219

Segment Assets and Liabilities
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

9,487,171

7,647,120

2,276,964

19,411,255

291,240

1,099,280

442,261

1,832,781

19,358

406,537

Acquisitions of property, plant and
equipment, intangibles and other
non-current segment assets
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Note 22.

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to
measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign
exchange and other price risks, aging analysis for credit risk.
The Board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.
a) Market Risk
(i) Foreign Exchange Risk
The Group and the parent entity operate internationally and are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the Russian Rubble.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency and net investments in foreign operations. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis
and cash flow forecasting.
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows:
Consolidated

Trade Receivables
Trade Payables

2010

2009

RUB

RUB

000's

000's

10,492

12,433

7,685

9,132

18,177

21,565

Group Sensitivity
Based on the financial instruments held at 30 June 2010 had the Australian dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Russian
Ruble with all other variables held constant, the Group’s post tax loss for the year would have been $74,941.21 higher/$61,359
lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchanges gains/losses on translation of the Russian Ruble.
The Parent entity is not subject to foreign exchange risk.
(ii) Cash flow and interest rate risk
The Group’s only interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents held. Term deposits and current accounts held with
variable interest rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The Company does not consider this to be material to the Group and have therefore not undertaken any further analysis of risk
exposure.
(iii) Price risk
The group and the parent entity are exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from an investment held by the group and
classified in the balance sheet as available-for-sale. Neither the group nor the parent entity are exposed to commodity price risk.
The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases in the market price of this investment on the group’s post-tax profit
for the year and on equity. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity market value had increased by 1 cent/decreased
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by 0.5 cent (2009 - increased by 1 cent/decreased by 0.5 cent) with all other variables held constant.

Listed Securities
Price Sensitivity
Listed Securities Increase by 1c
Listed Securities Decrease by 0.5c

Impact on post-tax profit
2010
2009
$
$
- 274,195

- 161,695

Impact on other components of equity
2010
2009
$
$
548,390
323,390
-

-

b) Credit risk exposure
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from receivables from customers and cash and cash equivalents. For the Company and Group it
arises from trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The parent has credit risk in the intercompany receivables.
The credit risk on financial assets of the consolidated entity, which have been recognised in the balance sheet, other than investments
in shares, is generally the carrying amount, net of any allowance for doubtful debts.
Currently, the only material exposure to single debtor is an outstanding balance from a Russian product distributor ($688,374).
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings
(if available) or to historical information about default rates.
Financial assets that are neither past due and not impaired are as follows:
Consolidated

Existing customers with no defaults in the past
Cash and cash equivalents

2010
$

2009
$

2,070,517

1,481,003

582,509

520,037

c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management
implies maintaining sufficient cash balances and access to equity funding.
The Financial Director monitors the cash position of the Group on a weekly basis.
At the reporting date the Group had sufficient cash to meet its requirements via access to short term debt facilities. Refer to Note
14 for details of the facility.
Maturity of financial liabilities
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contracted undiscounted cashflows.

45

Annual Report 2010

Notes to financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

Less than 6

6-12

Months

Months

1-2 years

Total

Carrying

contractual

Amount

cashflows
2010
692,675

-

-

692,675

692,675

1,550,064

-

-

1,550,064

1,550,064

2,242,738

-

-

2,242,738

2,242,738

1,159,954

-

-

1,159,954

1,159,954

190,000

-

-

190,000

190,000

1,349,954

-

-

1,349,954

1,349,954

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

2009
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

d) Fair Value Estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure
purposes. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date.
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such
as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The carrying value
less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term
nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at
the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.
Note 23.

Commitments
Lease commitments

Consolidated
2010
2009
$

$

Non-cancellable operating leases future minimum lease payments
Payable:
Within one year
Later than one year but not later
than 5 years

95,541

95,000

289,883

385,424

385,424

480,424

The Group leases premises under a non-cancellable operating leases expiring in
October 2013. All leases have annual CPI escalation clauses. They do they
include commitments for any renewal options on leases. Lease terms usually
run for 5 years with a 5 year renewal option. Lease conditions do not impose
any restrictions on the ability of Solagran Limited and its subsidiaries from
borrowing further funds or paying dividends.
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Note 24.

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following
subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(…).

Name of entity

Country of

Class of

incorporation

shares

Equity holding **
2010

2009

%

%

Solathera Limited

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

Solagran Netherlands BV

Netherlands

Ordinary

100

100

Sibex LLC

Russia

Ordinary

85

85

Solagift LLC

Russia

Ordinary

85

85

Solagran Son

Russia

Ordinary

100

N/A

In July 2010, Solagran announced that it had acquired the remaining 15% of SibEX LLC thereby
making it a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.
Solagran Son has been newly created during the year and has been incorporated into the Group
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Note 25.

Parent entity financial information
(a) Summary Financial Information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show aggregate amounts:

2010

2009

$

$

497,566

632,534

26,660,479

18,020,735

58,629

442,261

1,608,692

442,261

25,051,786

17,578,474

72,854,688

64,938,298

3,713,661

3,163,898

(51,516,563)

(50,523,722)

25,051,786

17,578,474

Statement of financial position
Current Assets
Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Shareholders' Equity
Issued Capital
Reserves
Retained Earnings

Loss for the year

(992,841)

(19,041,950)

Total comprehensive income

(992,841)

(19,041,950)

(b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The parent entity has not provided any financial guarantees
(c) Contingent liabllities of the parent entity
The parent enity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June
2010 or 30 June 2009.
(d) Contractual commitments
As at 30 June 2010, the parent entity had contractual commitments for
minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases
totalling $385,424 ( 2009: $480,424)
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Note 26.

Share-based payment
Parent
2010

2009

$

$

Share-based payment expense
recognised during the financial
year
Shares issued to Solalife
Options issued to Executive
Chairman

-

2,256,526

-

158,693
2,415,219

Issue of Shares to Solalife Pty Ltd
Shareholders approved the issue of 28,000,000 shares to Solalife Pty Ltd at the 2008 AGM. The shares are currently held in escrow
and will vest in three tranches. The first tranche of 10,000,000 shares will vest upon the closing price of SLA ordinary shares traded
on the Australian Securities Exchange equalling or exceeding $0.80 for three consecutive trading days. The second tranche of
10,000,000 shares will vest upon the closing price of SLA ordinary shares traded on the Australian Securities Exchange equalling
or exceeding $1.20 for 3 consecutive trading days. The final tranche of 8,000,000 shares will vest upon the closing price of SLA
ordinary shares traded on the Australian Securities Exchange equalling or exceeding $1.60 for 3 consecutive trading days. The
28,000,000 shares have 4 years to vest from issue date.
Issue of Options to the Executive Chairman
Shareholders approved the issue of 6,000,000 options with an exercise price of $0.50 to the Executive Chairman at the 2008 AGM.
The options expire on 30 November 2011 and each option can be exercised for 1 ordinary share in Solagran Limited. The Executive
Chairman exercised 2,600,000 options during the 2009/10 financial year. The options granted do not carry any dividend or voting
rights.
Details of directors options outstanding during the financial year are as follows:
2010

Grant date
1-Dec-08

Balance at

Granted

Forfeited

Exercised

Expiry

Exercise

beginning of

during the

during the

during the

Expired during

Balance at

date

price

year

year

year

year

the year

end of year

year

30-Nov-11

$

0.50

Total

Exercisable
at end of

6,000,000

-

-

2,600,000

-

3,400,000

3,400,000

6,000,000

-

-

2,600,000

-

3,400,000

3,400,000

Weighted average exercise price

$

0.50

2009

Grant date
1-Dec-08

Balance at

Granted

Forfeited

Exercised

Expiry

Exercise

beginning of

during the

during the

during the

Expired during

Balance at

date

price

year

year

year

year

the year

end of year

year

6,000,000

6,000,000

6,000,000

6,000,000

30-Nov-11

$

0.50

Total

-

10,000,000

4,000,000

-

10,000,000

4,000,000

-

Exercisable

-

at end of

Weighted average exercise price

2,600,000 options were exercised throughout the year and the weighted average exercise price for the year ended 30 June 2010
was $0.50 (2009: $ 0.00). 4,000,000 options orginally granted to Denis Kilroy were forfeited when he resigned as a director or
Solagran in Feb 2009.
The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at 30 June 2010 was 17 Months (2009: 29 months)
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Fair value of options granted
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the 2009 year was $0.03. The fair value at grant date was determined by
an independent valuator using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the share price at grant date, exercise
price, expected volatility, option life, expected dividends, the risk free rate, vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution,
the fact that the options are not tradeable.
The options are issued for no consideration and were immediately vested.
Note 27.

Related party transactions
Parent entity
Solagran Limited is the parent entity of the Group.

Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:
Consolidated
2010
2009
$

$

Sale of goods and services
Sale of Bioeffective products to
Eastok Pty Ltd

13,909

98,587

Sale of goods to Eastok Pty Ltd were made on similar terms to other customers of the Group. Eastok Pty Ltd is
an entity controlled by Solagran's Executive Chairman, Dr Vagif Soultanov.
Consolidated
2010
2009
Payment for services

$

Payment for rental of storage space
and for staffing services provided
by Eastok Pty Ltd

125,636

Payment for office rent and other
overheads to The KBA Consulting
Group Pty Ltd

$

-

116,400

53,887

All payments for services from related parties were on normal commercial terms. The KBA Consulting Group
Pty Ltd is an entity controlled by Solagran's former director, Mr Denis Kilroy. Mr Kilroy resigned in Feb 2009.
Consolidated
2010
2009
Loans from related parties
Loan from Solamind Pty Ltd

$

$

1,550,064

-

Solamind Pty Ltd is an entity associated with Dr Vagif Soultanov. During the 2009/10 financial year, Solamind
Pty Lts provided a loan to Solagran on an unsecured, interest free basis. The loan is at call.
Consolidated
2010
2009
Superannuation contributions
To superannuation funds on behalf
of employees

$

$
80,710

57,386

50

Notes to financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2010

Note 28.

Key management personnel disclosures

(a) Key management personnel
The following persons were key management personnel of Solagran Limited during the financial year:
Name

Position Held

Vagif Soultanov

Executive Chairman

Alexander Kurganov

Executive Director

Branko Jovanovic *

Chief Executive Officer (resigned 28 July 2010)

Andi Solaiman

Non Executive Director(appointed 28 July 2009)

David Croll *

Chief Financial Officer (appointed 29 October 2009)

Justyn Stedwell

Company Secretary (appointed 9 July 2009)

(b) Key management personnel compensation
Consolidated
2010
2009
Short-term employee benefits
Share-based payments

$
136 741

$
548 155

136 741

158 683
706 838

Further information regarding the identity of key management personnel and their compensation can be found in the Audited Remuneration Report contained in
the directors' report.

(c) Equity Instruments

Options and Rights Holdings
Details of options and rights held directly, indirectly or beneficially by key management personnel and their related parties are as follows:

Name
Vagif Soultanov
Total

Name
Vagif Soultanov
Total

51

Balance at 1
July 2009

Granted as
compensation

Options
Exercised

6 000 000
6 000 000

0

2 600 000
2 600 000

Balance at 1
July 2008
-

-

Granted as
compensation
6 000 000
6 000 000

Options
Exercised
-

Other
Changes

Balance at 30 June 2010
0

-

Other
Changes
-

3 400 000
3 400 000

Balance at 30 June 2009
6 000 000
6 000 000

Total vested Total vested
and
and
exercisable unexercisable
at 30 June
Total Vested at at 30 June
2010
2010
30 June 2010
3 400 000
3 400 000

3 400 000
3 400 000

0
-

Total vested Total vested
and
and
exercisable unexercisable
at 30 June
Total Vested at at 30 June
2009
2009
30 June 2009
6 000 000
6 000 000

6 000 000
6 000 000

0
-
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Shareholdings
Details of equity instruments (other than options and rights) held directly, indirectly or beneficially by key management personnel and their related
parties are as follows:
Received on
exercise of
Name

Balance at 1

Granted as

options or

Other

Balance at 30

Balance held

July 2009

compensation

rights

changes

June 2010

nominally

Vagif Soultanov

5,116,843

Alexander Kurganov

3,000,000

Total

8,116,843

2600000
0
-

19582

7,736,425

4,921,034

7,736,425

4,921,034

0
2,600,000

19,582

Received on
exercise of
Name
Vagif Soultanov

Balance at 1

Granted as

options or

Other

Balance at 30

Balance held

July 2008

compensation

rights

changes

June 2009

nominally

12,483,619

-

3,000,000

-

-

15,483,619

-

-

Alexander Kurganov
Total

0

(7,366,776)
- 7,366,776

5,116,843

4,921,034

3,000,000

3,000,000

8,116,843

7,921,034

(d) Equity instruments issued on exercise of remuneration options
Equity instruments issued during the period to key management personnel as a result of options exercised that had previously been granted as
compensation are as follows:

2010

Shares issued

Amount paid

Amount

per share

unpaid per
share

Vagif Soultanov

2,600,000

$

0.50

-

2009

There were no equity instruments during 2009 to key management personnel as a result of options previousl granted as compensation.

(e) Options and Rights Holdings

Details of options and rights held directly, indirectly or beneficially by key management personnel and their related parties are as follows:

and
Name
Vagif Soultanov
Total

Name

Balance at 1

Granted as

Options

Other

July 2009

compensation

Exercised

Changes

6,000,000
6,000,000

-

2,600,000
2,600,000

-

Balance at 1

Granted as

Options

Other

July 2008

compensation

Exercised

Changes

Vagif Soultanov

0

6,000,000

-

Denis Kilroy
Total

0
0

4,000,000
10,000,000

-

(4,000,000)
- 4,000,000

and

Balance at 30 Total Vested at exercisable unexercisable
June 2010
3,400,000
3,400,000

30 June 2010

at 30 June

3,400,000
3,400,000

3,400,000
3,400,000

Balance at 30 Total Vested at
June 2009

at 30 June
-

Total vested

Total vested

and

and

30 June 2009 exercisable unexercisable

6,000,000

6,000,000

6,000,000

-

6,000,000

6,000,000

6,000,000

-
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(f) Other transactions and balances
Administration Services

A director, Vagif Soultanov, is a director and shareholder of Eastok Pty Ltd, which provided administration services and office
facilities to the group during the financial year. These services were based upon normal commercial terms and conditions.
2010
$

2009
$

Adminstration Services and Office Facilities provided by
directors recognised as an expense during the year
Eastok Pty Ltd

125,636

116,400

125,636

116,400

Aggregate amounts of liabilities at the end of the reporting period relating to consulting services with directors of the group are as
follows:
2010
Current liabilities

2009

$

$

10,183

41,284

(g) Loans to Key Management Personnel
There are no loans to key management personnel.

Note 29.

Events subsequent to reporting date

On 24 August 2010, Solagran was joined as a party to proceedings commenced by Gun Capital Management Pty Ltd alleging
misrepresentation under the Trade Practices Act. Solagran is currently seeking to have itself removed as a party to these
proceedings.
On 3 September 2010 BioProspect Limited commenced an action against Solagran Limited and others alleging misrepresentation
under the Trade Practices Act in relation to a Development Agreement entered into by the two companies in August 2007. Solagran
is defending this action and the matter is due to be heard in the Federal Court of Australia in November of this year. Solagran and
its appointed legal advisors remain confident that the matter will be successfully defended.
In July 2010, Solagran announced that it had acquired the remaining 15% of SibEX LLC thereby making it a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group.
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Note 30.

30 Auditors’ Remuneration
Consolidated
2010

2009

$

$

Audit services
Amounts paid/payable to BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd for
audit or review of the financial statements for the
entity or any entity in the group

88,381

66,952

13,750

11,000

102,131

77,952

Amounts paid/payable to unrelated audit firms for
audit or review of the financial statements for the
entity or any entity in the group

Consolidated
2010

2009

$'000

$'000

Taxation services

Amounts paid/payable to a related practice of BDO
for non-audit taxation services performed for the
entity or any entity in the group:
- review of income tax return

19,443

- international tax consulting

35,700

49,457

-

40,000

55,143

174,706

- licencing dcoumentation

85,249
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Note 31.

Variation between financial accounts and preliminary report (appendix 4E)

The Appendix 4E lodged on 31 August 2010 was based on preliminary figures which were subject to review.
Between these two reports there has one adjustment to previously reported values and two reclassifications within the Report.
Adjustment
An adjustment of $543,946 against revenue following review of the foreign currency translation reserve and the deferred income
accounts in Solagran’s Russian subsidiary during the final audit process.
Reclassification
(i) The unsecured loan of $1.55m has been reclassified from non-current to current as is deemed repayable upon demand
(ii) The Research and Development Concession has of $271,566 has been reclassified as an income tax benefit. This amount
was received from the Australian Taxation Office in August 2010.
Neither of the reclassifications have any effect on the previously reported post tax results of the Group.
For comparability, please refer to the extract from the Statement of Comprehensive Income below.

Consolidated
2010
2010

Revenue from continuing operations
Other Income
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Final

App 4E

$

$

1,270,255

1,500,393

785,799

1,371,202

2,056,053

2,871,595
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Directors’ declaration

DECLARATION BY DIRECTORS
(1) The financial statements comprising the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Performance,
Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Changes in Equity, accompanying notes are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, and:
(a)
(b)

comply with Accounting Standards, Corporations Regulations 2001; and
give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of the performance for the year ended
on that date for the Company and the consolidated entity.

(2) In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable.
(3) In the directors’ opinion, the financial statements and notes are prepared in compliance with IFRS and interpretations alerted
by the International Accounting Standards Board.
(4) The remuneration disclosures set out in the Directors’ report (as part of the audited Remuneration Report), for the year
ended 30 June 2009 comply with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
(5) The directors have been given the declarations by The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer required by section
295A.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of directors and is signed on behalf of the directors.

Vagif Soultanov

Executive Chairman

30 September 2010
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Tel: +8 6382 4600
Fax: +8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au
38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SOLAGRAN LIMITED

Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Solagran Limited, which comprises the statement of financial position as at
30 June 2010, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the
year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the
consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial
year.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This
responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 1(a), the directors also state, in accordance
with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We confirm that the
independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001 would be in the same terms if it had been given to the directors
at the time that this auditor’s report was made.
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Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of Solagran Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)
giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and
(ii)
complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1(a).
Material Uncertainty Regarding Continuation as a Going Concern
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1(x) in the financial report which indicates that the consolidated entity
incurred a net loss of $4,508,970 during the year ended 30 June 2010 and net operating cash outflows of $6,887,709. These
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1(x), indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore whether it will realise its assets and
liabilities in the normal course of business and at the values stated in this financial report.
Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2010. The directors of the
company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the
Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Solagran Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, complies with section 300A of the
Corporations Act 2001.

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Peter Toll
Director

Perth, Western Australia
Dated this 30th day of September 2010
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Fax: +8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au
38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

30 September 2010

The Board of Directors
Solagran Limited
Level 1, 480 St Kilda Road
MELBOURNE VIC 3004

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY PETER TOLL TO THE DIRECTORS OF SOLAGRAN
LIMITED
As lead auditor of Solagran Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there
have been no contraventions of:
•

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

•

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Solagran Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

Peter Toll
Director

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Perth, Western Australia
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Corporate governance statement

S

olagran Limited (the Company) and the Board of Directors (the Board) are committed to Corporate Governance and, to the
extent they are appropriate to the Company, have adopted the 8 Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice
Recommendations as published by the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance Council (the Council).

The recommendations are not prescriptions, they are guidelines. The Council recognise that the range in size and diversity of companies is
significant and that smaller companies from the outset may face particular issues in following all recommendations. If a company considers
that a recommendation is inappropriate to its particular circumstances, it has the flexibility not to adopt it.

The Board of Directors has adopted the best practice recommendations as outlined by the Council to the extent that is deemed appropriate
for the size and operations of the Company. Therefore, where the Board considers that the cost of implementing a recommendation
outweighs any potential benefits, those recommendations have not been adopted.
This Statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place during the financial year, noting where practices depart from the
Council’s recommendations and the Board’s reasons for an alternate approach.
The following additional information about the Company’s corporate governance practices is set out on the Company’s website at www.
solagran.com
- Board Charter;
- Summary of policy on securities trading;
- Summary of continuous disclosure policy;
- Summary of arrangements regarding communication with shareholders;
- Summary of Company’s risk management policy; and
- Code of Conduct.
Principle 1 - Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
Functions of the Board and Management
The relationship between the Board and senior management is critical to the Group’s long-term success. The Directors are responsible to
the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short and the longer term. Their key focus is to enhance the interests of
shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Group is properly managed.
Day to day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy initiatives are delegated by the
Board to the Chief Operating Officer or when that position is not filled, the Executive Directors.
The Board of Directors of Solagran Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The Board guides and monitors
the business of the Company on behalf of shareholders, by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. The Board is
responsible for setting corporate direction, defining policies and monitoring the business of the Company to ensure that it is conducted
appropriately and in the best interests of shareholders. It is the role of senior management to manage the Company in accordance with the
direction and delegations of the Board; the Board will oversee the activities of management in carrying out these delegated duties.
Details of the Board’s Charter are located on the Company’s website (www.solagran.com).
The Board’s key objectives are to:
• increase shareholder value within an appropriate framework which safeguards the rights and interests of the Company’s
shareholders;
• to ensure the Company is properly managed and operates with effective cost and risk controls;
• to ensure that the Company invests funds in properly managed research projects; and
• to ensure that the Company’s products (Bioeffectives) are given the opportunity to become commercial and viable products in the
worldwide market
Evaluating the Performance of Senior Executives
On at least an annual basis, the Board conducts a formal performance review of the Chief Executive Officer and other key management
personnel (KMP). The Board assesses the performance of KMP against qualitative and quantitative key performance indicators relevant
to each KMP. Feedback on the performance of each KMP is provided and a plan is established to encourage, improve and monitor future
performance. A performance review of KMP occurred during the 2010 financial year in accordance with this process.
Principle 2 - Structure the Board to add value
Structure of the Board
The skills, experience, expertise and period of office of each director in office throughout the year are included in the Directors’ Report.
As at the date of this report, the Board is composed of three executive directors, Vagif Soultanov, David Croll & Alexander Kurganov, and
one non-executive director, Andi Solaiman.
The Board assesses whether a director is independent in accordance with the Council’s independence guidelines. There are currently no
independent directors on the Board and the Board does not consist of a majority of independent directors. During the 2010 financial year,
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the Board considers that the Company was not currently of a size, nor were its affairs of such complexity to justify the expense of appointing
additional independent non-executive Directors. The Board intends to appoint an independent director in the 2011 financial year.
The Board is chaired by Vagif Soultanov who is not an Independent Director. The Board believes that Dr Vagif Soultanov is the person
who best understands the technical nature and background of the Company’s business. Dr Soultanov is highly qualified in the areas of
Solagran’s business pursuit and can make informed decisions on all relevant issues falling within the scope of the role of a Chairman.
The Board considers that given these factors the appointment of an independent Chairman is not justified.
The role of the Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer are not exercised by the same individual, this ensures a balance of authority so
that no single individual has unfettered powers.
The Board is responsible for the nomination and selection of directors. A separate Nomination Committee has not been formed. The Board
considers that at this stage in the Company’s development, no benefits or efficiencies are to be gained by delegating this function to a
separate committee.
The Board as a whole undertakes the process of reviewing the skill base and experience of existing Directors to enable identification or
attributes required in new Directors. Where appropriate, independent consultants may be engaged to identify possible new candidates
for the Board.
Board Performance
The Board considers the ongoing development and improvement of its own performance, the performance of individual directors and
Board Committees as critical to effective governance.
The Board has adopted a self-evaluation process to measure its own performance. The performance of the Board and individual directors
is reviewed at least every two years by the Board as a whole. This process includes a review in relation to the composition and skills mix
of the Directors of the Company.
Performance reviews involve analysis based on predetermined performance objectives. The criteria for evaluating performance, is aligned
with the financial and non financial objectives of the Company. The Board will consider the outcome of each review and develop a series
of actions to guide and monitor improvement.
A performance review in accordance with the processes disclosed occurred during the 2010 financial year.
Commitments
Each member of the board is committed to spending sufficient time on Company matters to enable them to effectively carry out their duties
as a Director of the Company.
The Board holds at least 8 scheduled meetings each year. For details of the number of Board meetings held throughout the year and the
number of meetings attended by each director refer to the Directors’ Report.
Independent Professional Advice
With the prior approval of the Chairman, Directors may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.
Term of Office
The Company’s Constitution specifies that Director’s must retire from office on a two year rotational basis.
Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision making
Code of Conduct
The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct to guide the Directors, Officers and Employees.
All Directors, Officers and Employees will:
-

Actively promote the highest standards of ethics and integrity in carrying out their duties for the Company;
Disclose any actual or perceived conflicts of interest of a direct or indirect nature of which they become aware and which they
believe could compromise in any way the reputation or performance of the Company;
Respect confidentiality of all information of a confidential nature, which is acquired in the course of the Company’s business and not
disclose or make improper use of such confidential information to any person unless specific authorisation is given for disclosure
or disclosure is legally mandated;
Deal with the Company’s customers, suppliers, competitors and each other with the highest level of honesty, fairness and integrity
and to observe the rule and spirit of the legal and regulatory environment in which the Company operates; and
Protect the assets of the Company to ensure availability for legitimate business purposes and ensure all corporate opportunities
are enjoyed by the Company and that no property, information or position belonging to the Company or opportunity arising from
these are used for personal gain or to compete with the Company.

Trading in the Company’s Securities by Directors, Officers and Employees
The Board has adopted a policy and procedure on dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors, Officers and employees which
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prohibits dealing in the Company’s securities when those persons possess unpublished market price sensitive information. It also requires
Directors to notify the Chairman of the Company when trading in the Company occurs. In the case of the Chairman, he must notify the
Company Secretary.
Directors must also notify the Company Secretary of any trade in the Company’s securities within 2 days of such trade occurring so that
the Company Secretary can comply with ASX Listing Rule 3.19A.2 requirement to notify ASX of any change in a notifiable interest held by
a Director.
Consistent with the insider trading provisions of the Corporations Act, all of the Company’s directors, officers and employees are prohibited
from trading in the Company’s shares or procuring another person to deal in Company shares while in possession of Inside Information
concerning the Company.
Directors, officers and employees should never communicate any Inside Information to any other person, including family members and
associates.
In addition, directors, officers and employees are prohibited from trading in the Company’s shares during:
•
•
•
•

each period of 30 days immediately prior to the intended date upon which the Company releases its annual financial statements to
the ASX;
each period of 30 days immediately prior to the intended date upon which the Company releases its half year financial statements
to the ASX;
each period of 14 days immediately prior to the intended date upon which the Company releases it quarterly cash flow (appendix
4C); and
each period of 2 hours immediately after the time upon which the Company issues a price-sensitive ASX announcement.

No director, officer or employee may deal in Company shares at any time for short-term gain, including buying and selling Company shares
in a 3 month period, without the written approval of the Chairman or, in the case of the Chairman, the Board of Directors.
Reporting Unethical or Illegal Practices
Company policy requires employees who are aware of unethical or illegal practices to report these practices to management. Any reports
of unethical or illegal practices are investigated by management or the Board. Reporters of unethical practices may remain anonymous.
Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Audit Committee
A separate Audit Committee has not been formed. The Board considers that at this stage in the Company’s development, no benefits or
efficiencies are to be gained by delegating this function to a separate committee.
The Board as a whole undertakes the functions normally associated with an Audit Committee.
External Auditor
The Board is responsible for appointing the External Auditor, subject to shareholder approval.
Following each audit, the Board conducts a review of the audit process and the performance and independence of the external auditor.
The external auditor must be able to demonstrate complete independence from the Company and an ability to maintain independence
through its engagement period.
Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure
Continuous Disclosure Policy
The Company has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy that requires all Directors, Officers and Executives to inform the Chairman and
the Company Secretary of any potentially material information as soon as practicable after they become aware of that information.
Information is material if it is likely that the information would influence investors who commonly acquire securities on ASX in deciding
whether to buy sell or hold the Company’s securities.
The Chairperson is responsible for interpreting and monitoring the Company’s Disclosure Policy and where necessary informing the
Board.
The Company Secretary has been nominated as the person responsible for communications with the ASX. This role includes responsibility
for ensuring compliance with the Continuous Disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing and coordinating information
disclosure to the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the public.
Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders
Shareholder Communication Policy
The Company respects the rights of its shareholders and to facilitate the effective exercise of those rights, the Company is committed to:
• communicating effectively with shareholders;
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•
•

providing shareholders with ready access to balanced and understandable information about the company and corporate proposals;
and
making it easier for shareholders to participate in general meetings of the company

The Company’s communications are intended to ensure regular and timely release of information about the company to shareholders by
way of:
• releases to the market via the Company Announcements Platform of ASX to comply with continuous and periodic disclosure
requirements;
• Half Yearly Reports and Annual Reports;
• presentations at Annual General and General Meetings
• information posted on the company’s website
The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at Annual General and General Meetings, and uses these meetings to assist
shareholders in understanding the Company’s objectives and strategies in relation to its business activities.
The Company also makes available a telephone number for shareholders to make enquiries of the Company, the number is listed on all
ASX announcements.
Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
Risk Management
The Board is responsible for risk management and control and they examine and consider areas of significant business risk on an ongoing
basis and implement policy to minimise exposure to these risks.
Arrangements put in place by the Board to monitor risk management include:
-

Technical review of all products prior to clinical trials and identification of possible product risk factors in trials;

-

Monitoring all product liability and insurance policies;

-

Constant review of cash resources and cash projection; and

-

Review of staff structure and roles.

The risk management system involves a multi stage process of risk identification, analysis, evaluation, strategy development, strategy
implementation, monitoring and review.
Executive management reports to the Board on the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material business risks. In addition,
the Board undertakes a review of all major activities to asses risk and the effectiveness of strategies implemented to manage risk.
Chief Executive Officer & Financial Controller Certifications
The Chief Executive Officer and the Financial Controller have provided a written statement to the Board, in accordance with section 295A
of the Corporations Act, stating that:
• the Company’s financial statements present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Company’s financial condition and
operational results are in accordance with relevant accounting standards; and
• the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material
respects.
Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
The Board determines the level of remuneration for Directors and executives based on the provision of services to the Company for
executive management and for their services as Directors. Remuneration levels were set with reference to industry and market conditions
and with regard to the size, nature and volume of operations and overall market capitalisation of the Company. In addition, all matters of
remuneration will continue to be determined in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 requirements, especially in respect of related
party transactions. That is, no Directors participate in any deliberations regarding his own remuneration or related issues.
A separate Remuneration Committee has not been formed. The Board considers that based on the Company’s stage of development, no
benefits or efficiencies are to be gained by delegating this function to a separate committee.
The payment of equity based executive remuneration is made in accordance with thresholds set in plans approved by shareholders.
Non-Executive Directors
The maximum total amount to be paid to Non-Executive Directors was approved by shareholders at an Annual General Meeting and is
currently $180,000.
Executive Remuneration
Executive remuneration and other terms of reference are reviewed annually by the Board and are set at fair market value and not the
performance of the Company.
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ASX Additional Information
Range of Shares as at 31 August, 2010
Total
holders

Units

% of Issued
Capital

1-1000

221

109 766

0,04%

1,001-5,000

622

1 944 982

0,66%

5,001-10,000

396

3 248 628

1,10%

10,001 -100,000

924

33 968 990

11,45%

More than 100,001

306

257 363 369

86,76%

2 469

296 635 735

100%

Range

Total

Top 20 Holders as at 27 September, 2010
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Shares

%

ACE AIM PTE LTD

36 916 918

12,5%

SOLALIFE PTY LTD <SOLALIFE RUSSIA UNIT A/C>

28 000 000

9,4%

PETROGRAD INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

13 850 000

4,7%

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

11 778 402

4,0%

AMMF INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <AM FAMILY A/C>

10 500 000

3,5%

EASTOK PTY LTD

4 921 034

1,7%

JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C>

4 492 768

1,5%

MR GAVIN PETER HERHOLDT

4 410 781

1,5%

BRONTE INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

4 154 800

1,4%

ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C>

4 130 051

1,4%

BT PORTFOLIO SERVICES LIMITED <R & K BOSCARATO S/F A/C>

3 533 000

1,2%

MR ABU SAHID MOHAMED

3 400 000

1,2%

AVONDRY PTY LTD

3 333 334

1,1%

ADNIL (VIC) PTY LTD

3 255 200

1,1%

OST-KIM PTY LTD <JAKANA SUPER FUND A/C>

3 230 592

1,1%

DR VAGIF SOULTANOV

2 734 349

0,9%

BRINVEST PTY LTD <HERHOLDT SUPER FUND A/C>

2 425 000

0,8%

JAMES ST EQUITIES PTY LTD

2 200 000

0,7%

GASMERE PTY LIMITED

2 198 000

0,7%

MRS YVONNE MARGARET STEDWELL + MR MARK ANDREW
STEDWELL <STEDWELL FAMILY S/F A/C>

2 144 000

0,7%

TOTAL HELD BY TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS

151 608 229

51,1%

REMAINING BALANCE

145 027 506

48,9%

TOTAL

296 635 735

100%

64

